Pyridine *N*-Oxides and Derivatives Thereof in Organocatalysis

Petr Koukal, Jan Ulč, David Nečas, and Martin Kotora

Abstract Pyridine *N*-oxides are a class of mild Lewis bases that can activate certain kinds of Lewis acidic parts of molecules and hence increase reactivity of its nucleophilic part towards various reactions with electrophiles. This review aims to summarize the applications of various non-chiral and chiral pyridine *N*-oxides in catalysis of a variety of reactions. In addition, the applications of these reactions in syntheses of natural and bioactive compounds are mentioned as well.

Keywords Aldol reactions • Allylation • Catalysis • Crotylation • Cyanation • Epoxide • Epoxide cleavage • Natural compounds • *N*-oxide • Phosphorylation • Propargylation • Rearrangement • Reduction • Synthesis

Contents

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Physical Properties of Pyridine N-Oxides
- 3 Non-chiral Pyridine N-Oxide Catalyzed Reactions
- 4 Reactions Catalyzed by Chiral Pyridine N-Oxides and Their Derivatives
 - 4.1 Synthesis of Chiral Pyridine N-Oxides, N,N'-Dioxides, and Related Compounds
 - 4.2 Allylations and Crotylations
 - 4.3 Propargylations and Allenylations
 - 4.4 Aldol Reactions
 - 4.5 Alkylations
 - 4.6 Epoxide Cleavage
 - 4.7 α-Addition of Isocyanides to Aldehydes (Passerini-Type Reaction)
 - 4.8 Addition of Me₃Si-CN to Ketones and Related Compounds (Strecker Reaction)
 - 4.9 Reductions
 - 4.10 Rearrangements
- 5 N-Oxide Catalyzed Reactions in Syntheses of Natural Compounds

e-mail: martin.kotora@natur.cuni.cz

P. Koukal, J. Ulč, D. Nečas, and M. Kotora (🖂)

Department of Organic Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Charles University, Albertov 6, 128 43 Praha 2, Czech Republic

5.1 Naturally Occurring Compounds5.2 Other Bioactive Substances6 ConclusionReferences

1 Introduction

Compounds possessing one, two, or more pyridine *N*-oxide moieties as the part of their molecular framework constitute a special class of compounds with unique properties. Probably the most frequent use of such compounds is in various oxidation reactions where they act as oxidants. However, this review aims to focus on the use of pyridine *N*-oxides as mild Lewis bases that can activate Lewis acid parts of molecules and hence increase reactivity of its nucleophilic part towards various reactions with electrophiles. Although catalytic activity of compounds possessing the pyridine *N*-oxide moiety has been partially reviewed or mentioned several times in different reports during the past two decades [1-13], the goal of this review is to gather a more comprehensive set of information on catalytic activity and applications of pyridine *N*-oxides in promotion of various racemic and enantioselective reactions.

First of all, it should be noted that pyridine *N*-oxides can be found in nature. Usually these compounds are highly toxic. As a typical example may serve orellanine \mathbf{A} – a mycotoxin – isolated from the Fool's webcap (*Cortinarius orellanus*) (Fig. 1) [14, 15]. It is a highly poisonous substance with nephrotoxic properties. Poisoning results in renal failure and irreversible damage of kidneys. Other pyridine *N*-oxides possessing antibacterial activity such as 2-(methyldithio)pyridine-*N*-oxide **B**, 2-[(methylthiomethyl) dithio]pyridine-*N*-oxide **C**, and 2,2'-dithio-bis(pyridine-*N*-oxide) **D** were isolated from Persian shallot (*Allium stipitatum*) [16].

N-oxides are also found in the realm of pharmaceutically active substances (Fig. 2). As typical examples may serve SCH 350634 **E** and SCH 341125 **F** that serve as selective CCR5 receptor antagonists with potent anti-HIV activity [17], a potent thrombin inhibitor **G** [18, 19], and JPL-32 **H** a representative of *N*-oxides with anti-HIV properties with multiple mechanisms of antiviral action [20].

2 Physical Properties of Pyridine N-Oxides

Pyridine *N*-oxides are Lewis bases, because the N–O moiety of pyridine *N*-oxides, thanks to high polarization, might act as an electron donor. Hence they may combine with Lewis acids forming the corresponding Lewis acid–base pairs. This property has an essential chemical consequence, because it can increase the nucleophilicity of the Lewis acids towards potential electrophiles and thus allow them to react under conditions under which they otherwise would not react.



Fig. 1 Orellanine and other natural compounds possessing the N-oxide moiety



Fig. 2 Pharmaceutically active substances possessing the N-oxide moiety

Although the basicity of the pyridine *N*-oxides is lower in comparison with the corresponding pyridines, it is often sufficient enough to activate a number of various Lewis acids and thus catalyze a number of various reactions. Basicity of pyridine *N*-oxides and their respective reactivity towards numerous Brønsted and Lewis acids has been studied in a number of cases and for their pK_a and other data see elsewhere [21–26].

3 Non-chiral Pyridine *N*-Oxide Catalyzed Reactions

Only a handful of reactions catalyzed by non-chiral *N*-oxides have been reported. Among them belong allylation of aldehydes, aldol reaction, Passerini-type reaction, and phosphorylation of alcohols.

Polyisobutylene-supported pyridine *N*-oxide was shown to catalyze allylation of several aromatic aldehydes with allyltrichlorosilane (Scheme 1) [27]. These studies demonstrated that it is a highly active and recyclable catalyst that promotes the allylation of aromatic aldehydes in yields up to 99%. It could be successfully recycled up to five times by extraction with a mixture of hexane/90% EtOH– H_2O . The recycled catalyst retained its catalytic efficiency.

Pyridine *N*-oxide and DMAP *N*-oxide were used to catalyze aldol reaction of trimethylsilyl dimethylketene acetal with various aromatic (Table 1) and other aldehydes

~ · ·



Scheme 1 Allylation of aldehydes catalyzed by a polymer supported pyridine N-oxide

$R + Me + Me + OMe \frac{1}{1000} \frac{1}{1000} \frac{1}{1000} \frac{1}{10000} \frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	e N-oxide (10 mol%) 2 equiv.), DMF, 20 °C	O OCH ₃ Me
R	Time (h)	Yield (%) ^a
Н	5	83
4-NO ₂	23	87
2-Cl	12	65
4-Cl	10	77
4-MeO	10	44
4-HO	21	96
4-AcO	15	80
4-t-BuMe ₂ SiO	10	62
4-MeS	21	87

Table 1 Aldol reactions with substituted benzaldehydes

^aIsolated yields

(Table 2) [28]. The reaction was carried out in DMF and in almost all cases it proceeded to furnish aldol products in high yields.

The Passerini reaction is based on the reaction of a mixture of an isocyanide with a ketone or an aldehyde in the presence of a carboxylic acid to give an α -acyloxy carboxamide. Pyridine *N*-oxide was shown to catalyze the reaction of SiCl₄ with benzaldehyde and *tert*-butyl isocyanide to the corresponding α -hydroxy amide after basic hydrolysis in 94% yield (Scheme 2) [29].

Recently, it has been shown that various 2-aryl-4-(dimethylamino)pyridine-*N*-oxides can serve as efficient phosphorylation catalysts for amino acids and polyols (Scheme 3) [30]. The most effective catalyst was 2-(2,4-bistrifluoromethylphenyl)-4-dimethylaminopyridine *N*-oxide. Synthetic usefulness of this procedure was also demonstrated by a selective phosphorylation of the tyrosine hydroxyl group in a heptapeptide.

As far as other reactions catalyzed by pyridine *N*-oxides are concerned, it is worth to mention: (1) a positive catalytic effect of 4-substituted pyridine *N*-oxides on silylation of alcohols [31, 32], (2) effect of pyridoxal *N*-oxide on racemization of amino acids [33], 4-substituted pyridine *N*-oxides for catalysis of hydrolysis of 2,3,5,6-*p*-benzoquinone [34], the use of pyridine *N*-oxide as a cocatalyst for arylsulfonylation and benzoylation of phenols [35, 36], and finally the use of 4-dimethylamino pyridine *N*-oxide as an efficient catalyst in peptide synthesis [37].

O + Me O Pyridine N-oxide (10 r		
Me	Me Me	
R	Time (h)	Yield (%) ^a
6-Methylpyrid-2-yl	5.5	55
PhCH ₂ CH ₂	5	80
Me Me	5	81
Me(CH ₂) ₈	7	78
4-t-BuMe ₂ SiO	10	62
Me	10	91

 Table 2
 Aldol reactions with other aldehydes

^aIsolated yields



Scheme 2 Passerini-type reaction catalyzed by pyridine N-oxide



Scheme 3 Phosphorylation of alcohols catalyzed by a substituted pyridine N-oxide

4 **Reactions Catalyzed by Chiral Pyridine** *N***-Oxides** and Their Derivatives

Synthesis of Chiral Pyridine N-Oxides, N.N'-Dioxides, 4.1 and Related Compounds

Compounds possessing the pyridine N-oxide moiety could be divided into several classes with respect to their elements of chirality within their scaffold and can be classified into the following groups: (a) those possessing the element of axial chirality (Fig. 3), (b) those possessing the element of central chirality (Figs. 4–6), (c) those possessing the element of planar chirality (Fig. 7), (d) those possessing the element of helical chirality (Fig. 8), and, finally, (e) those possessing several elements of chirality (axial and central) (Fig. 9).

At the outset, the pyridine *N*-oxides possessing the element of axial chirality are dealt with. Historically the first chiral bipyridine N,N'-dioxide **1a** was prepared and resolved into enantiomers by Fujii et al. [38, 39] but it was Nakajima et al. [40] who



Fig. 3 Various pyridine N-oxides possessing elements of axial chirality



Fig. 4 Various pyridine *N*-oxides possessing elements of central chirality derived from terpenes and alkaloids

reported the first use of **1a** and its analog **1b** (Fig. 3) in organocatalysis. These achievements provided the necessary impetus that prompted others to join, expand, and develop the area of organocatalytic allylations into a matured field. The compound **1c** with a similar framework was prepared by Hayashi et al. [41, 42]. Other analogs such as **1d**, prepared by Chang et al. [43], and **1e–1g**, prepared by Feng et al. [44],



Fig. 5 Various pyridine N-oxides possessing elements of central chirality derived from amino acids



Fig. 6 Various pyridine N-oxides possessing elements of central chirality

were reported. Among these compounds axially chiral *N*-oxides **2** prepared by Kočovský et al. [45] and **3** prepared by Kotora et al. [46] could be also included.



Fig. 7 Various pyridine N-oxides possessing elements of planar chirality



Fig. 8 Various pyridine N-oxides possessing elements of helical chirality

Further generations of unsymmetrically and symmetrically substituted chiral bipyridine N,N'-dioxides comprise **4a–4c**, and **5** possessing the tetrahydroisoquinoline framework, prepared by Kotora et al. [47–50], and, finally, N,N'-dioxides bearing the carbazole framework **6a** and **6b** prepared by Zhu et al. [51, 52]. Also a pyridine *N*-oxide with a chiral biphenyl moiety **7** prepared by Benaglia et al. [53] should be mentioned as well. A new type of catalyst **8** possessing the element of axial chirality was reported by Nakajima et al. [54] and a related compound also by Yu et al. [55].

Regarding the synthesis of bipyridine *N*-oxides and *N*,*N'*-dioxides possessing elements of central chirality, numerous compounds possessing different molecular scaffolds have been prepared (Figs. 4–6). Among them belong *N*-oxides derived from chiral natural terpenes (Fig. 4) such as bipyridine mono-*N*-oxides **9** [56], **10** (*iso*-PINDOX series) and **11** [57], structurally related pyridine *N*-oxides **12** [58] and **13** [59] prepared by Kočovský et al., **14** prepared by Benaglia et al. [60], **15** prepared by Denmark et al. [61], and, finally, **16** prepared by Marchetti et al. (absolute configuration was not given) [62]. Representatives of *N*,*N'*-dioxides are bipyridine *N*,*N'*-dioxide **17** and **18** prepared by Kočovský et al. [56, 57], bipyridine *N*,*N'*-dioxide **19** prepared by Denmark et al. [61], and bridged bipyridine *N*,*N'*-dioxides **20–22** prepared by Benaglia et al. [60]. Finally, *N*,*N'*,*N''*-trioxide **23** was prepared by Kwong et al. [63]. Among other *N*-oxides originating from natural source belongs a diastereomeric mixture of (1'*R*,2'*S*)-and (1'*S*, 2'*S*)-3-(1-methyl-2-pyrrolidinyl)pyridine *N*,*N'*-dioxides **24** synthesized by oxidation of (*S*)-(-)-3-(1-methyl-2-pyrrolidinyl)pyridine (nicotine) by Marchetti et al. [61].



Fig. 9 Various pyridine N-oxides possessing elements of axial and central chirality

Another class of pyridine *N*-oxides possessing central chirality is derived from amino acids (Fig. 5). One example are pyridine *N*-oxides possessing amino acid as the part of the pendant chain **25** prepared by Benaglia et al. [64]. Other classes of pyridine *N*-oxides **26** and **27** with pendant amino acid chains were prepared by Laschat et al. [65].

The next group of *N*-oxides are those bearing the element of central chirality (Fig. 6). This group comprises various compounds such as pyridine *N*-oxide **28** prepared by Marchetti et al. (no absolute configuration was given) [60], Denmark et al. [66] reported a large series of chiral N,N'-dioxides **29** based on Bolm's catalysts scaffold [67, 68], N,N'-dioxides **30a** and **30b** prepared by Benaglia et al. [53], pyridine *N*-oxide **31a** and bipyridine N,N'-dioxide **31b** prepared by Boyd et al. [69], and finally *N*-oxides **32** and **33** were prepared by Ramanathan et al. [70, 71]. Stončius et al. [72] synthesized a series of *N*-oxides **34** and **35** in which the pyridine moieties were fused

with the bicyclo[3.3.1]nonane framework. Finally, pyridine *N*-oxide **36** having additional bis-sulfoxide moieties was prepared by Juaristi et al. [73]. Worth mentioning are also amylose and cellulose derivatives bearing pyridine *N*-oxide groups [74].

Regarding *N*-oxides possessing an element of planar chirality, only a handful of compounds have been synthesized so far (Fig. 7). The pioneering work was done by Fu et al. [75] who prepared ferrocene containing pyridine *N*-oxide **37**. In addition, *N*-oxides possessing the [2.2]-paracyclophane scaffold **38** and **39–41** were prepared by Andrus et al. [76] and Rowlands et al. [77], respectively. A similar situation concerns *N*-oxides possessing elements of helical chirality (Fig. 8). A series of various helical *N*-oxides **42–44** [78, 79] and **45** [80] was prepared by Takenaka et al. (Fig. 8).

The last group (Fig. 9) comprise chiral bipyridine *N*-oxide **46** [56] and *N*,*N'*-dioxide **47** [57] having elements of both central and axial chirality that were prepared by Kočovský et al., *N*,*N'*-dioxide **48** was prepared by Malkov et al. [81], and finally *N*, *N'*-dioxides **49** and **50** bearing the chiral tetrahydrofuranyl moiety by Kotora et al. [49, 50]. A large series of variously substituted axially chiral bipyridine *N*-oxides **51–55** was prepared by Denmark et al. [66, 82]. This group also comprises other types of chiral *N*,*N'*-dioxides possessing similar structural features [83].

4.2 Allylations and Crotylations

N-Oxides of various types have been used as chiral Lewis bases able to activate Lewis acids (halosilanes), namely, in reactions of aldehydes with allyltrichlorosilane (Hosomi–Sakurai type allylations) providing chiral homoallylic alcohols. Their catalytic activity, i.e., increasing of the reaction rate and asymmetric induction, was usually tested in allylations of aromatic aldehydes. Allylation of benzaldehyde was usually chosen to assess the abovementioned properties. For typical examples, see the results summarized in Table 3. The outcome of the allylation usually depended on the amount of a catalyst and usually rather high loading such as 10 mol% with respect to the aldehyde and reaction times (24 or 48 h or more) were required to obtain a reasonable reaction rate and enantioselectivity. On the other hand, there exists a couple of *N*-oxides capable of catalyzing the reaction at a 1 mol% level providing the respective products in high yields and asymmetric induction within a reasonable period of time (1–6 h). Allylations of other benzaldehydes were studied as well and can be found elsewhere [84, 85].

A strong solvent effect on asymmetric induction as well as on the configuration of the homoallylic alcohol was observed during allylations catalyzed by **5**. Thus catalysis by (*R*)-**5** gave (*S*)-homoallylic alcohols in MeCN, CH_2Cl_2 , $CHCl_3$, and other polar solvents; whereas its use in nonpolar solvents such as toluene, THF, chlorobenzene, etc. gave (*R*)-homoallylic alcohols [43]. Properties of (*S*)-**1d** were tested in allylation of 4-methoxybenzaldehyde only. It proceeded with a high enantioselectivity of 92% ee (66% yield) [43].

Another interesting and synthetically useful reaction is crotylation of aldehydes with (E)- and (Z)-crotyltrichlorosilanes. The former gives rise preferentially to *anti*

н +	SiCl	3 chiral <i>N</i> -oxide				
		conditions				
Catalyst	mol (%)	Solvent	Conditions	Yield (%) ^a	ee (%) ^a	Ref
(S)- 1a	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	23°C, 2 h	82	52	[40]
(S)- 1b	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−78°C, 6 h	85	88 (R)	[40]
(<i>R</i>)-1c	0.1	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−45°C, 2.5 h	95	84 (S)	[41]
(<i>R</i>)-2	5	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−40°C, 2 h	60	87 (R)	[45]
(<i>R</i>)- 3	5	CH ₂ Cl ₂	20°C, 72 h	50	20	[46]
(S)- 4 a	5	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−78°C, 6 h	87	74 (R)	[47]
(S)- 4 b	5	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−78°C, 6 h	53	72 (R)	[47]
(S)- 4 c	1	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−78°C, 1 h	48	80 (R)	[48]
(<i>R</i>)- 5	1	Toluene ^b	−78°C, 1 h	45	83 (S)	[49]
(R)- 6a	1	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−80°C, 16 h	88	95 (S)	[51]
(R)- 6b	1	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−80°C, 20 h	-	87 (R)	[52]
(<i>R</i>)-7	10	MeCN	−90°C, 24 h	22	40 (R)	[53]
9	7	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−90°C, 24 h	67	92 (S)	[56]
10a	20	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−60°C, 18 h	72	46 (S)	[57]
10b	20	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−60°C, 18 h	75	88 (S)	[57]
10c	20	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−60°C, 18 h	72	84 (S)	[57]
10d	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−60°C, 18 h	15	97 (S)	[57]
11	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−60°C, 18 h	90	22 (S)	[57]
12a	7	MeCN	−60°C, 18 h	66	41 (S)	[58]
12b	7	MeCN	−60°C, 18 h	15	16 (S)	[58]
12c	7	MeCN	−60°C, 18 h	20	7 (S)	[58]
12d	7	MeCN	−60°C, 18 h	55	68 (S)	[58]
12e	7	MeCN	−60°C, 18 h	51	67 (<i>S</i>)	[58]
13	5	MeCN	−40°C, 18 h	95	96 (S)	[59]
14	10	MeCN	0°C, 48 h	17	6 (<i>S</i>)	[60]
17	7	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−90°C, 48 h	18	41 (<i>R</i>)	[56]
20	10	MeCN	−40°C, 67 h	37	95 (S)	[60]
21a	10	MeCN	−40°C, 72 h	30	4 (<i>S</i>)	[60]
21b	10	MeCN	−40°C, 72 h	24	35 (S)	[60]
22	10	MeCN	−40°C, 72 h	22	30 (S)	[60]
23	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	0°C, 3 h	89	74 (<i>R</i>)	[63]
25a	10	MeCN	20°C, 48 h	85	0	[64]
25b	10	MeCN	20°C, 48 h	53	6	[64]
25c	10	MeCN	0°C, 48 h	45	68	[64]
25d	10	MeCN	−20°C, 48 h	40	67 (<i>S</i>)	[64]
25e	10	MeCN	0°C, 48 h	50	60 (<i>S</i>)	[64]
30a	10	MeCN	-45°C, 40 h	60	50 (S)	[53]
30b	10	MeCN	−45°C, 40 h	50	35 (S)	[53]
31a	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	0°C, 24 h	60	35 (<i>R</i>)	[69]

 Table 3
 Allylation of benzaldehyde catalyzed by various chiral N-oxides

 O
 OH

(continued)

Catalyst	mol (%)	Solvent	Conditions	Yield (%) ^a	ee (%) ^a	Ref
31b	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-78°C, 12 h	64	26 (R)	[69]
32	20	CHCl ₃ /(CH ₂ Cl) ₂	−78°C, 24 h	87	83 (S)	[70]
38	1.5	MeCN	−40°C, 6 h	95	93 (S)	[76]
39a	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-78°C	65	38 (R)	[76]
39b	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-78°C	52	36 (<i>S</i>)	[76]
41a	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-78°C	72	28 (S)	[77]
41b	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-78°C	58	30 (<i>S</i>)	[77]
46	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−60°C, 12 h	72	98 (S)	[56]
47	10	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−60°C, 12 h	52	14 (S)	[57]
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)-49	1	MeCN	−40°C, 1 h	100	48 (S)	[49]
(<i>S</i> , <i>R</i> , <i>R</i>) -49	1	PhCl	−40°C, 1 h	100	62 (<i>S</i>)	[49]
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>) -50	1	THF	-78°C, 1 h	100	93 (S)	[50]
(S,R) -50	1	THF	−78°C, 1 h	98	96 (S)	[50]

Table 3 (continued)

^aConfiguration of the obtained alcohol is given in parentheses

^bAllylations in other solvents were tested as well

whereas the latter affords *syn* products. Typical examples of benzaldehyde crotylations are displayed in Table 4. Crotylations of other substrates were reported as well [90]. A more detailed kinetic and computational investigation of the catalytic enantioand diastereoselective allylation and crotylation is given elsewhere [91].

Allylation of α , β -unsaturated aldehydes has also been extensively studied. In the majority of the cases, only allylation of cinnamaldehyde and its substituted congeners was studied [40, 42, 45, 51, 56, 57, 60, 70, 81, 86, 88, 89, 92, 93]. More systematic studies were carried out in a handful of cases only [94–96]. Worth mentioning is also allylation (crotylation) of β -haloacrylaldehydes, products of which could be used as convenient chiral building blocks [97, 98]. Only a handful examples have been reported for allylations of α , β , γ , δ -unsaturated aldehydes and these mainly concerned reactions catalyzed by **12** [96], by (*R*,*R*) and (*S*,*R*)-**50** [97, 99, 100], or by (*R*,*R*)- and (*S*,*R*,*R*)-**49** [100]. Allylation of aliphatic aldehydes catalyzed by **5**, (*S*,*R*,*R*)-**49** [101] and (*S*,*R*)-**50** [102] was tested as well, but asymmetric induction was rather low and did not exceed 68% ee.

4.3 Propargylations and Allenylations

Selective propargylation and allenylation of aromatic aldehydes with propargyltrichlorosilane and allenyltrichlorosilane in the presence of 20 mol% of chiral N,N'-dioxide (S)-**1b** were reported by Denmark et al. [103]. Propargyltrichlorosilane and allenyltrichlorosilane were prepared in situ by a reaction of trichlorosilane with propargyl chloride either under Cu or Ni catalysis, respectively. Although it was the first example,

	Me	G Si						
O II	We \		obiral A	Lovido	 Me			
I → →	+ +		chiral /v	tions	ОН			
		∽ _SiCla			Ŭ,			
	ſ		, ,	Í	ſ*Ŭ`			
	IVI	e		\checkmark	, Me			
	mol	trans or			Yield	anti/	ee (%) ^a anti,	
Catalyst	(%)	cis	Solvent	Conditions	$(\%)^{a}$	syn	syn	Ref
(S)-1b	10	trans	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−78°C,	68	97:3	86 (1 <i>R</i> ,2 <i>R</i>)	[40]
				6 h				
(S)- 1b	10	cis	CH ₂ Cl ₂	−78°C,	64	1:99	84 (1 <i>R</i> ,2 <i>S</i>)	[40]
				6 h				
(S)-1c	10	trans	MeCN	−45°C,	84	96:4	73 (1 <i>S</i> ,2 <i>S</i>)	[86]
				2.5 h				
(S)- 1c	10	cis	MeCN	$-45^{\circ}C$,	82	1:99	77 (1S, 2R)	[86]
(D) 0			CIL CI	2.5 h	51	02.7	07	F45 071
(<i>R</i>)-2	5	trans	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-40°C	54	93:7	8/	[45, 87]
(S)-2	5	trans	CH_2CI_2	$-40^{\circ}C$,	65	95:5	66 (15,25),	[88]
(5) 3	5		CIL CI	24 fi	70	1.00	(15,2R)	1001
(3)-2	3	CIS	CH_2CI_2	-40° C,	/8	1:99	(15,23), 79 (15 2R)	[88]
(\mathbf{R}) 69	1	trans	CHICL	24 II	64	86.14	94(1525) 95	1081
(N) -0a	1	trails		16 h	04	00.14	94 (15,25), 95	[09]
9	7	trans	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-40°C	70	68:32	65/78	[45]
(_)-	10	trans	MeCN	$-40^{\circ}C$	88	98.2	98	[57]
10d	10	liuns		18 h		0.2	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
(-)-	10	cis	MeCN	−40°C,	37	10:90	87	[57]
10d				18 h				
25c	1	trans/ cis, 8/2	MeCN	0°C, 48 h	40	80:20	69	[64]
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)- 50	1	trans	PhCl	-40°C, 24 h	82	71:29	91/87	[50]

 Table 4 Crotylations of benzaldehyde catalyzed by various chiral N-oxides

^aConfiguration of the obtained alcohol is given in parentheses

a high catalyst loading, moderate yields, and enantioselectivity were short of expectations (Table 5).

Later, Takenaka et al. developed a highly enantioselective synthesis of homopropargylic alcohols by using a new helical chiral N-oxide catalyst **45** and allenyltrichlorosilane (Table 6) [80, 104]. Reactions with various aldehydes provided the corresponding homopropargylic alcohols in high yields and with high enantioselectivity, when 10 mol% catalyst loading was used. The reaction tolerates functionalities in the arene, such as halogen, nitro, trifluoromethyl, and methoxy groups. However, the reaction of cyclohexylcarbaldehyde afforded the product in a lower yield and with a moderate enantioselectivity. In addition, this method was used for enantio- and regioselective propargylation of N-acylhydrazones (Scheme 4).

CI	A: HS NiL THI B: HSi Cu(Et ₂ (iCl ₃ , <i>i</i> -Pr ₂ NEt (5 -2 (5 mol%) ⁻ , reflux iCl ₃ , <i>i</i> -Pr ₂ NEt (5 Cl (5 mol%) D/EtCN (10:1), r	equiv.) equiv.) t	₃ Si • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	R (S)- 1b CH ₂ Cl ₂	CHO (20 mol%) 2, -78 °C, 6h	
Entry	Method	Aldehyde	Yield (%) ^a	Propargyl:a	llenyl ^b	ee (%) ^{c, d}	Configuration ^e
1	А	Ph	65	>30:1		52	R
2	А	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	62	>30:1		40	R
3	А	4-ClC ₆ H ₄	49	>30:1		46	R
4	А	Ph(CH ₂) ₂	35	>30:1		23	R ^f
5	В	Ph	72	1:15		54	R
6	В	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	76	1:9		62	R ^f
7	В	4-ClC ₆ H ₄	48	1:9		49	R^{f}
8	В	Ph(CH ₂) ₂	44	1:10		22	R^{f}

 Table 5
 Selective synthesis of optically active allenyl and homopropargyl alcohols

^aCombined isolated yields

^bDetermined by ¹H NMR

^cEnantiomeric excess of the major isomer

^dDetermined by HPLC

eAssigned by comparison with optical rotation and/or retention time on chiral HPLC

fAssigned by analogy

The initial idea on the supposed origin of high enantioselectivity based on π - π -stacking between the phenyl ring of the aromatic aldehyde and the helical core of the catalyst was corrected later by the theoretical study of Wheeler and coworkers. They reported a computational study showing that simple electrostatic interactions stabilize the preferred *Si* face addition [105].

4.4 Aldol Reactions

4.4.1 Aldol Reaction with Ketones

Compared to the multitude of Lewis acid-catalyzed enantioselective aldol additions, the Lewis base catalysis is considerably scarce. Concerning the Lewis base catalysts, chiral phosphoramides introduced by Denmark et al. have been studied most extensively. In 2002, he reported the application of chiral *N*-oxide catalysis for aldol addition to unactivated ketones [61, 66], which, unlike an addition to aldehydes, is a considerably more challenging reaction, and therefore a general solution was lacking. Using highly reactive trichlorosilyl ketene acetals¹ enabled to overcome the diminished electrophilicity and increased steric hindrance of ketones compared to aldehydes. It is

¹Trichlorosilyl enolates of aldehydes and ketones as the reagents of the first choice were found not reactive enough for addition to ketones.

CH ₂ Cl ₂ I C, 6 h OH	
Yield (%) ^a	ee (%) ^b
87	86
86	84
95	92
90	92
93	88
55 ^e	92
80	90
80	74
85	82
93	96
97	96
98	92
87	96
95	94
78	94
90	86
H ₄ 92	96
61 ^g (80) ^h	59
	$\begin{array}{c c} CH_2Cl_2 \\ \bullet, 6 \ h \end{array} \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \\ \hline \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\$

 Table 6
 Asymmetric propargylation of aldehydes catalyzed by helically chiral N-oxide 45

^aIsolated yield

^bDetermined by HPLC

^cAbsolute configurations were determined

 $^{d}(M)$ -43 catalyst was used

^eLow yield is presumably due to a poor solubility of the aldehyde

f(R)-isomer is major

^g12 h

^h36 h



Scheme 4 Propargylation of an acylhydrazone catalyzed by 45

worth mentioning that enantioselectivities reached with chiral pyridine *N*-oxides were superior to those obtained with the aforementioned phosphoramides. Vast effort was undertaken to optimize properties of the *N*-oxide catalysts (Table 7).

It was concluded that the asymmetric inductions and yields of the aldol product obtained with at-that-time-known monomeric **15** and dimeric axially chiral **19** or centrally chiral catalysts (R)-**1a** and (S)-**1g** are overcome by pyridine N-oxides **29a** and

U Ca	it. (10 mol%)	0 OH *		
+ Ph Me	CH ₂ Cl ₂ MeC	D Ph Me		
Catalyst	Temp. (°C)	Yield (%)	ee (%)	References
15	0	55	3	[60]
19	0	15	<1	[60]
(<i>R</i>)-1a	0	45	45	[65]
(S)- 1g	0	39	26	[65]
29a	0	92	55	[65]
29b	0	94	64	[65]
(<i>P</i>)- 51a	0	90	74 (S)	[65]
(<i>P</i>)- 51a	-20	94	82 (S)	[65]
(<i>M</i>)- 51a	-20	89	42 (<i>R</i>)	[65]
51b	-20	89	82 (S)	[60]
51c	-20	91	87 (S)	[60]
51d	-20	64	60 (<i>S</i>)	[60]
51e	-20	88	74 (S)	[60]
51f	-20	91	1 (<i>R</i>)	[60]
52b	-20	93	64 (<i>S</i>)	[60]
52a	-20	90	80 (S)	[60]
52c	-20	87	47 (S)	[60]
53a	-20	32	61 (<i>S</i>)	[60]
53b	-20	95	72 (<i>S</i>)	[60]
54	-20	93	72 (<i>S</i>)	[60]
55	-20	92	24 (S)	[60]
55	-20	94	5 (<i>R</i>)	[60]
	+ Ph Me Catalyst 15 19 (R)-1a (S)-1g 29a 29b (P)-51a (M)-51a 51b 51c 51d 51c 51d 51e 51f 52b 52a 52a 52a 53a 53b 54 55 55	$\begin{array}{c cccc} & \text{Cat. (10 mol%)} \\ \hline \text{Ph} & \text{Me} & \hline \text{CH}_2\text{Cl}_2 & \text{MeC} \\ \hline \text{Catalyst} & \text{Temp. (°C)} \\ \hline 15 & 0 & & \\ \hline 19 & 0 & & \\ \hline (R)-1a & 0 & & \\ \hline (S)-1g & 0 & & \\ \hline 29a & 0 & & \\ \hline 29b & 0 & & \\ \hline (P)-51a & 0 & & \\ \hline (P)-51a & -20 & & \\ \hline (P)-51a & -20 & & \\ \hline (M)-51a & -20 & & \\ \hline (M)-51a & -20 & & \\ \hline 51b & -20 & & \\ \hline 51b & -20 & & \\ \hline 51c & -20 & & \\ \hline 52b & -20 & & \\ \hline 52a & -20 & & \\ \hline 52a & -20 & & \\ \hline 52a & -20 & & \\ \hline 53b & -20 & & \\ \hline 53b & -20 & & \\ \hline 55 & -20 & & \\ \hline 55 & -20 & & \\ \hline \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c cccc} & \begin{array}{c} \text{Cat. (10 mol%)} \\ \hline \text{CH}_2\text{Cl}_2 \end{array} & \begin{array}{c} \text{MeO} & \begin{array}{c} \text{Ph} \\ \text{Ph} \end{array} & \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \text{Ph} \end{array} & \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \text{Ph} \end{array} & \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \text{Ph} \end{array} & \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \text{Ph} \end{array} \\ \hline \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

 Table 7 Enantioselective aldol addition to ketone – N-oxide catalysts optimization

29b derived from the Bolm's ligand. A significant improvement of enantioselectivity was reached by blocking the rotation along the C2–C2' bond by installing methyl groups in positions 3 and 3'. Thus the presence of the enantioselectivity-attenuating axial conformer of the catalyst was avoided, and catalysts **51** and **52** demonstrated the synergy of central and axial chirality (compare Entries 8 and 9 with Entry 7). Regarding the steric influences, the best selectivity was obtained with catalyst **51c** possessing *tert*-butyl and 2,4,6-trimethylbenzyl groups. With respect to the electronic influences, the decreased yield was obtained with catalyst **53a** clearly indicating that electron deficient pyridine *N*-oxides (weaker Lewis bases) are less capable of catalyzing the reaction.

The study aiming to determine the scope of the reaction revealed that the greater the difference in R^1 and R^2 bulkiness is, the higher enantioselectivities are obtained (Table 8). Furthermore, aldol condensation with aromatic ketones (Entries 1–9) resulted in higher enantioselectivities than with the aliphatic ones, whether linear, cyclic, branched, or conjugated (Entries 10–16).

	51a (10 mol%) O	OH I*	
MeO + R ¹	R ² CH ₂ Cl ₂ MeO	R^1 R^2	
Entry	Ketone	Yield (%)	ee (%)
1	PhCOMe	96	83
2	PhCOEt	90	81
3	PhCOC≡CH	89	86
4	1-Tetralone	90	80
5	1-NaphtylCOMe	89	56
6	2-FurylCOMe	87	49
7	PhC≡CCOMe	94	35
8	<i>p</i> -CF ₃ C ₆ H ₄ COMe	91	76
9	<i>p</i> -MeOC ₆ H ₄ COMe	94	68
10	(E)-PhCH=CHCOMe	87	11
11	2-Cyclohexenone	86	8
12	EtCOMe	84	32
13	PhCH ₂ CH ₂ COMe	97	35
14	cyclopropylCOMe	84	20
15	cyclohexylCOMe	91	32
16	t-BuCOMe	87	43

Table 8 The scope of the pyridine N-oxide catalyzed aldol addition with respect to variousketones

4.4.2 Aldol Reaction with Aldehydes

Nakajima et al. noticed that addition of trichlorosilyl enolates is analogous to the previously studied additions of allyltrichlorosilane to aldehydes and therefore a similar mechanism and enantioselectivities to those of the allylation reactions could be expected in the presence of *N*-oxide catalysts (Table 9) [54]. It was discovered that: (a) the aldolizations are high-yielding except for aliphatic aldehyde (Entry 11); (b) unlike Lewis acid-catalyzed reactions it is stereospecific, turning *E* enolates into *syn* aldol products and *Z* enolates into *anti* ones (Entries 3–10), and (c) the asymmetric induction in the presence of catalysts (*R*)-**1a** or (*R*)-**1g** strongly depended on the substrate and catalyst structure.

In the case of trichlorosilyl enolates of cyclic ketones, modest enantioselectivities were observed, when bidentate catalysts (R)-1a and (R)-1g were used (Table 10); nevertheless, the diastereoselectivity followed the previous pattern yielding predominantly the *anti*-products [54]. However, employing monodentate catalysts (R)-2 and (R)-8 led to isolation of *syn* products with somewhat higher enantioselectivity.

OSiC	Cl₃ , R ^{2 ·}	+ R ³ CH	O Ca <i>i-</i> Pr	t. 1 (3 mol%) ₂NEt, CH₂Cl₂ -78 °C	$R^1 \xrightarrow{O}_{R^2}$		O OH R ² anti	₹ ³
Entry	\mathbb{R}^1	R ²	E/Z	R ³	Catalyst	Yield (%)	syn/anti	ee (%) syn, anti
1	Ph	Н	-	Ph	(<i>R</i>)-1g	85	-	<5
2	Ph	Н	-	Ph	(<i>R</i>)-1a	87	-	<5
3	Н	C ₅ H ₁₁	12/1	Ph	(<i>R</i>)-1g	96	1/11	6, 7
4	Н	C ₅ H ₁₁	12/1	Ph	(<i>R</i>)-1a	86	1/12	81, 23
5	Н	C ₅ H ₁₁	1/4	Ph	(<i>R</i>)-1g	88	3/1	9, 12
6	Н	C ₅ H ₁₁	1/4	Ph	(<i>R</i>)-1a	90	4/1	79, 23
7	Ph	Me	1/10	Ph	(<i>R</i>)-1g	82	7/1	82, 33
8	Ph	Me	1/10	Ph	(<i>R</i>)-1a	88	9/1	6, <5
9	Ph	Me	1/10	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	(<i>R</i>)-1g	86	15/1	67, 13
10	Ph	Me	1/10	PhCH=CH	(<i>R</i>)-1g	59	15/1	63, 43
11	Ph	Me	1/10	PhCH ₂ CH ₂	(<i>R</i>)-1g	Trace	-	-

 Table 9
 Aldol addition of trichlorosilyl enolates of acyclic ketones to aldehydes catalyzed by 1





Entry	n	R ³	Catalyst	Yield (%)	syn/anti	ee (%) syn, anti
1	2	Ph	(<i>R</i>)-1g	80	1/10	39, 30
2	2	Ph	(<i>R</i>)-1a	94	1/3	21, 30
3	2	Ph	(<i>R</i>)-2	92	8/1	<5, 30
4	2	Ph	(<i>R</i>)- 8	92	25/1	47, 60
5	3	Ph	(R)- 8	93	30/1	50, 11
6	1	Ph	(<i>R</i>)- 8	94	13/1	62, 66
7	1	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	(R)- 8	90	14/1	63, 55
8	1	4-CF ₃ C ₆ H ₄	(R)- 8	98	14/1	72, 69
9	1	PhCH=CH	(R)- 8	93	4/1	28, 42
10	1	PhCH ₂ CH ₂	(<i>R</i>)- 8	22	1/1	50, 40

4.4.3 **Reductive Aldol Addition**

Nakajima et al. also reported a highly syn-selective reductive aldol reaction of an α , β -unsaturated ketone – chalcone – with benzaldehyde [106]. 1,4-Reduction of the ketone by trichlorosilane in the presence of a pyridine N-oxide catalyst gave rise selectively to a (Z)-trichlorosilyl enolate. Once the highly pure (Z)-enolate was formed (due to the cyclic transition state), the N-oxide catalyst facilitated the enantioselective addition to a carbonyl acceptor. The use of (R)-1a and (R)-1g catalysts gave rise to the

aldol products with comparably high diastereoselectivity (\sim 19/1), while a satisfactory asymmetric induction of 80% ee was obtained only in the case of the former catalyst (Scheme 5). An intramolecular reaction was reported as well, the yield and selectivity were moderate (Scheme 6).

4.5 Alkylations

There is only one example of *N*-oxide catalyzed alkylation of aldehydes and it was reported by Laschat et al. [65]. They used pyridine *N*-oxides **26** and **27** possessing amino acid moieties as catalysts for alkylations of benzaldehyde with diethylzinc (Table 11). The reaction proceeded with good yields of the homoallyl alcohols in the range of 37-92%, but with a rather poor enantioselectivity in the range of 2-29% ee.

4.6 Epoxide Cleavage

Epoxide cleavage with various electrophiles leads to the formation of chiral alcohols. The selected examples are shown in Table 12. The first chiral Lewis base catalyzed epoxide ring cleavage was reported by Fu et al. in 2001. He studied cleavage of symmetrically substituted epoxides with tetrachlorosilane catalyzed by a ferrocene containing pyridine *N*-oxide **37**. The reaction proceeded usually with a high enantioselectivity (91–98% ee) for aryl substituted epoxides [75]. Takenaka et al. studied catalytic activity of several helically chiral *N*-oxides **42–44** [78]. Out of these, the use of **44** gave products







Pyridine N-Oxides and Derivatives Thereof in Organocatalysis

Ph H 26 or 27 (5 mc	01%), THF, rt, 72 h	
Catalyst	Yield (%)	ee (%) ^a
26a	52	16 (S)
26b	37	12 (S)
26c	37	2 (S)
26d	71	9 (S)
27a	71	11 (S)
27b	88	7 (S)
27c	92	29 (S)
27d	88	8 (R)

Table 11	Alkylation of benzaldehyde catalyz	ed by 26 and 27
O	Et ₂ Zn (2.2 eg)	ŎН

^aDetermined by GC

$R^{1} \xrightarrow{O} R^{2} + SiCl_{4} \xrightarrow{\text{chiral N-oxide}}_{\text{conditions}} R^{1} \xrightarrow{OSiCl_{3}}_{Cl}$							
Catalyst	mol (%)	R^1, R^2	Solvent	Conditions	Yield (%)	ee (%) ^a	
37	5	Ph	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-85°C	88	94	
37	5	4-FC ₆ H ₄	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-85°C	97	91	
37	5	4-MeC ₆ H ₄	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-85°C	94	93	
37	5	4-CF ₃ C ₆ H ₄	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-85°C	93	98	
37	5	2-naphtyl	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-85°C	84	94	
37	5	CH ₂ OBn	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-85°C	91	50	
44	10	Ph	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-78°C, 6 h	77	94	
44	10	2-naphtyl	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-78°C, 6 h	84	92	
44	10	4-ClC ₆ H ₄	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-78°C, 6 h	83	94	
44	10	4-MeC ₆ H ₄	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-78°C, 6 h	83	92	
44	10	4-CF ₃ C ₆ H ₄	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-78°C, 6 h	63	87	
44	10	CH ₂ O(CH ₂) ₃ Ph	CH ₂ Cl ₂	-78°C, 6 h	64	72	
33	0.5	Ph	CHCl ₃	-30°C, 2 h	94	93 (1 <i>R</i> ,2 <i>R</i>)	
33	0.5	4-FC ₆ H ₄	CHCl ₃	−30°C, 1.7 h	92	89 (1 <i>S</i> ,2 <i>S</i>)	
33	0.5	4-MeC ₆ H ₄	CHCl ₃	-30°C, 3 h	97	78 (1 <i>S</i> ,2 <i>S</i>)	
33	0.5	3-MeOC ₆ H ₄	CHCl ₃	−30°C, 1.5 h	96	89(1 <i>R</i> ,2 <i>R</i>)	
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)-49	5	Ph	THF	-78°C, 24 h	76	65	
(<i>S</i> , <i>R</i> , <i>R</i>) -49	5	Ph	THF	-78°C, 24 h	74	69	

 Table 12 Ring opening of symmetrically substituted epoxides by various N-oxide catalysts

^aDetermined by GC

with the highest asymmetric induction. Another contribution to this area comes from Ramanathan et al. [71], who used conformationally rigid bipyridine N,N'-dioxide 33 as the catalyst. Comparison of catalytic activity of 49 and 50 revealed that the former gave better results (higher enantioselectivity) than the latter one, albeit its activity could not match the previously published results [107]. In a similar manner, *N*-oxides with the bicyclo[3.3.1]nonane framework gave in general products with low enantiopurity [72].

4.7 α -Addition of Isocyanides to Aldehydes (Passerini-Type Reaction)

In principle, the Passerini reaction could be also carried out under Lewis acid catalysis, but several problems were recognized in individual steps. However, these problems could be circumvented by the use of the concept of the Lewis base activation of Lewis acids. The main feature of this reaction is the activation of a weak Lewis acid, SiCl₄, by a weak chiral Lewis base generating a highly reactive and selective siliconium ion that reacts with an aldehyde. The ensuing reaction steps then give rise to an imidoyl chloride that after hydrolysis forms the expected product – a hydroxy amide. It has been shown that this reaction could be catalyzed by chiral bisphosphoramides to give highly enantioenriched products. Also *N*,*N*'-dioxide (*R*,*R*,*R*)-**51a** possessing elements of central and axial chirality was tested, but, disappointingly, its use did not show any sensible enantioselectivity. Thus the reaction of *tert*-butyl isocyanide **2**, benzaldehyde **3**, and tetrachlorosilane catalyzed by **51a** gave the corresponding α -hydroxy amide in a very good yield of 87% but with the poor enantio-selectivity of 3% ee (Scheme 7) [29].

4.8 Addition of Me₃Si-CN to Ketones and Related Compounds (Strecker Reaction)

Addition of trimethylsilyl cyanide to acetophenone catalyzed by dual Lewis acid/Lewis base system composed of (*R*)-BINOL-Ti(O*i*-Pr)₄/(*R*)-**1b** was studied as a part of mechanistic studies by Feng et al. [108]. Comparison of the reaction carried out in the presence of racemic and chiral Lewis bases showed differences in enantioselectivity (43 and 51% ee) indicating a positive effect of the chiral Lewis base on asymmetric induction (Scheme 8). Addition of trimethylsilyl cyanide to aldimines promoted by various chiral *N*-oxides was studied as well [109] (for theoretical studies, see: Su et al.

$$t-\text{Bu-NC} + \underbrace{Ph}_{H} + \text{SiCl}_{4} \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} (R,R,R)-51a \\ (10 \text{ mol}\%) \\ CH_{2}\text{Cl}_{2} \\ -78 \text{ °C} \end{pmatrix}}_{CH_{2}\text{Cl}_{2}} \underbrace{Ph}_{CI} \underbrace{V}_{t-Bu} \underbrace{N}_{t-Bu} \underbrace{N}_{t-Bu}_{O} \underbrace{N}_{H} \underbrace{N}_{t-Bu}_{O} \underbrace{N}_{H} \underbrace{N}_{O}_{O} \underbrace{N}_{O} \underbrace{N}_{O$$

Scheme 7 Passerini-type reaction catalyzed by 51a

Pyridine N-Oxides and Derivatives Thereof in Organocatalysis

$$\begin{array}{c} O \\ Ph \\ Me \end{array} + \\ Me_{3}Si-CN \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} (R)-BINOL-Ti(Oi-Pr)_{4} (20 \text{ mol}\%) \\ \hline (R)-1b (20 \text{ mol}\%) \\ \hline CH_{2}Cl_{2}, 0 \ ^{\circ}C, 84 \text{ h} \\ \hline \begin{array}{c} 21\%, 51\% \text{ ee} \end{array} \end{array}$$

Scheme 8 Trimethylsilyl cyanide addition to acetophenone catalyzed by (R)-1b

[110]). However, in order to achieve a high asymmetric induction (up to 95% ee), the presence of stoichiometric amount of the chiral *N*-oxide was required.

4.9 Reductions

Reductions catalyzed by chiral pyridine *N*-oxide are rather rare. There is one example reported by Nakajima et al., who studied reduction of *N*-acylated β -amino enones (Scheme 9) [111]. Reduction of *N*-benzoyl enone by HSiCl₃ catalyzed by (*R*)-**1b** gave a mixture of 4*H*-1,3-oxazine (20%) and keto amide (18%) but with a rather low enantioselectivity of 37 and 53% ee, respectively.

The second example of reduction catalyzed by chiral pyridine *N*-oxide was reported by Laschat et al., who reported the reduction of ketones by BH₃·SMe₂ in the presence of pyridine *N*-oxides **26** or **27** [65]. The reductions were carried out with just three ketones. The corresponding alcohols were obtained in very good yields, but with a low or moderate enantioselectivity, in the range of 7–64% (Table 13). The highest enantioselectivity (64% ee) was observed in the reduction of α -chloroacetophenone catalyzed by the monosubstituted catalyst **26d** (Entry 4).

4.10 Rearrangements

There is only one report on a rearrangement catalyzed by a chiral pyridine *N*-oxide. It concerns the synthesis of thiols via a rearrangement of carbonodithioic *O*,*S*-esters to carbonodithioic *S*,*S*-esters followed by transformation into thiols [112]. The rearrangement was studied in the presence of a terpene based pyridine *N*-oxide **16** and nicotine derived *N*,*N'*-dioxide **24** (Scheme 10). The use of the former did not result in any measurable asymmetric induction and the latter provides the corresponding thiols with a rather low enantioselectivity of 37.7% ee for the butane-2-thiol and 11.4% ee for the 1-phenylethylthiol.



Scheme 9 Reduction of *N*-benzovl enone by (*R*)-1b

26 or 27 (5 mol%)

Table 13	Reductions of ketones catalyzed by 26 and 27				
-	BH ₃ SMe ₂ (1 equiv.)				
0 U	THF, reflux, 5 min	OH 			
Ph R	26 or 27 (5 mol%)	Ph * R	$R = ivie, El, CH_2CI$		

		R = Me		R = Et		$R = CH_2Cl$	
Entry	Catalyst	Yield (%) ^a	ee (%) ^b	Yield (%) ^a	ee (%) ^b	Yield (%) ^a	ee (%) ^b
1	26a	99	7 (<i>R</i>)	98	8 (R)	99	20 (S)
2	26b	99	11 (<i>R</i>)	99	17 (R)	97	21 (S)
3	26c	99	7 (<i>R</i>)	99	12 (<i>R</i>)	99	16 (S)
4	26d	99	20 (R)	98	21 (R)	99	64 (S)
5	27a	97	9 (<i>R</i>)	98	9 (<i>R</i>)	99	21 (S)
6	27b	99	10 (R)	99	16 (<i>R</i>)	99	33 (S)
7	27c	99	32 (R)	99	38 (R)	99	37 (S)
8	27d	99	31 (<i>R</i>)	99	33 (R)	98	51 (S)

^aIsolated yields

^bDetermined by capillary GC

$$\begin{array}{c} Me \\ R \\ \hline O \\ \hline O \\ \hline S \\ \hline Me \\ \hline (50 \text{ mol}\%) \\ \hline 100 \text{ °C}, 24 \text{ h} \\ \hline N \text{-oxide: } \mathbf{16}, \text{ R} = \text{Et}, 60\% \\ N \text{-oxide: } \mathbf{24}, \text{ R} = \text{Et}, 50\% \\ N \text{-oxide: } \mathbf{24}, \text{ R} = \text{Ph}, 49\% \\ \hline \end{array} \begin{array}{c} Me \\ \hline R \\ \hline$$

Scheme 10 Rearrangement of carbonodithioic O,S-esters to carbonodithioic S,S-esters by 16 and **24** (ee's were determined by optical rotation)

N-Oxide Catalyzed Reactions in Syntheses of Natural 5 Compounds

Out of a huge number of chiral N-oxides, only a handful of them was used as catalysts for preparation of chiral building blocks that served as advanced intermediates for syntheses of natural or biologically active substances. Nonetheless several published examples nicely demonstrate their synthetic potential.

5.1 Naturally Occurring Compounds

Several chiral *N*,*N*'-dioxides were used to catalyze processes that led to the formation of chiral intermediates applied in syntheses of natural products. Interestingly, most of them were applied in enantioselective allylation of various unsaturated aldehydes. Thus, allylation of cinnamaldehyde with allyltrichlorosilane catalyzed by (*S*,*R*)-**50** was used as a crucial step in the synthesis of goniothalamin [94] (Scheme 11). In a similar manner, **48** was used to catalyze a highly enantioselective *syn* crotylation of substituted cinnamaldehydes with (*Z*)-crotyltrichlorosilane. The crotylation products were used to synthesize (–)-elisabethadione [81] and (–)-erogorgiaene [93] (Schemes 12 and 13). Allylation of an α , β , γ , δ -dienal with allyltrichlorosilane catalyzed by (*S*,*R*)-**50** was used to prepare the known left-hand fragment of papulacandin D (Scheme 14) [100]. The same approach was used for the total synthesis of (+)-pteroenone that was based on *anti*-crotylation of 2,4-dimethylhexa-2,4-dienal with (*E*)-crotyltrichlorosilane (Scheme 15) [99]. Alternatively, *anti*-crotylation of (*E*)-3-iodomethacryldehyde was



Scheme 11 Synthesis of (S)-(-)-goniothalamin



Scheme 12 Synthesis of (-)-elisabethadione



Scheme 13 Synthesis of (-)-erogorgiaene



Scheme 14 Synthesis of the left-hand fragment of papulacandin D



Scheme 15 Synthesis of pteroenone

used to provide the advanced intermediate for the syntheses of pteroenone and antillatoxin (Scheme 16) [97]. Enantioselective allylation was also exploited in the synthesis of one of the chiral building blocks utilized in the synthesis of the callyspongiolide fragment [113]. Allylation of 6-heptenal catalyzed by (*S*,*R*)-**50** was tested as a route to a chiral intermediate for the coibacin D synthesis, but the achieved enantioselectivity was low (58% ee) [102].

5.2 Other Bioactive Substances

Allylation of 2',4'-difluorobiphenyl-4-carbaldehyde with allyltrichlorosilane catalyzed by (*S*,*R*)-**50** was exploited in the synthesis of the flobufen metabolite (Scheme 17) [114]. Optionally, allylation of benzaldehyde under the same conditions could be also used for a synthesis of dapoxetine [114]. Analogously, allylation of 2-thiophenecarbaldehyde with allyltrichlorosilane catalyzed by (*S*,*R*)-**50** was the basis for a new synthesis of duloxetine (Scheme 18) [115].

6 Conclusion

There is no doubt that achiral and chiral compounds possessing the pyridine *N*-oxide moiety could participate as catalysts in a wide range of organocatalyzed asymmetric reactions under rather mild reaction conditions. A rather large versatility of these catalysts in promoting both traditional reactions and, especially, new asymmetric reactions

Pyridine N-Oxides and Derivatives Thereof in Organocatalysis



Scheme 16 Synthesis of (+)-pteroenone and antillatoxin



Scheme 17 Synthesis of the flobufen metabolite



Scheme 18 Synthesis of duloxetine

is rewarding. The practical benefits of these reactions, especially in the area of asymmetric synthesis, include excellent enantioselectivity and activity providing useful chiral synthons with high enantiopurity, the use of cheap and readily available materials, mild reaction temperatures, operational simplicity, and last but not least, applicability in syntheses of natural or pharmaceutically active substances. There is no doubt that the future of the *N*-oxide family of catalysts, primarily in asymmetric transformations, is promising and will become one of the standard chemical tools in the field of organic synthesis.

References

- 1. Dalko PI, Moisa L (2001) Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 40:3726
- 2. Jha SC, Joshi NN (2002) ARKIVOC:167
- 3. Chelucci V, Thummel RP (2002) Chem Rev 102:3129
- 4. Malkov AV, Kočovský P (2003) Curr Org Chem 7:1737
- 5. Denmark SE, Fu J (2003) Chem Rev 103:2763
- 6. Dalko PI, Moisa L (2004) Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 43:5138
- 7. Kočovský P, Malkov AV (2004) Russ Chem Bull Int Ed 53:1806
- 8. Chelucci V, Murineddu G, Pinna GA (2004) Tetrahedron Asymmetry 15:1373
- 9. Rendler S, Oesterreich M (2005) Synlett:1727
- 10. Orito Y, Nakajima M (2006) Synlett:1391
- 11. Malkov AV, Kočovský P (2007) Eur J Org Chem:29
- 12. Liu X, Lin L, Feng X (2013) Acc Chem Res 44:574
- 13. Sutar RL, Joshi NN (2013) Tetrahedron Asymmetry 24:1345
- 14. Antkowiac WZ, Gessner WP (1979) Tetrahedron Lett 20:1931
- Herrmann A, Hedman H, Rosén J, Jansson D, Haraldsson B, Hellenäs K-E (2012) J Nat Prod 75:1690
- O'Donnell G, Poeschl R, Zimhony O, Gunaratnam M, Moreira JBO, Neidle S, Evangenopoulos D, Bhakta S, Malkinson JP, Boshoff HI, Lenaerts A, Gibbonds S (2009) J Nat Prod 72:360
- Palani A, Shapiro S, Josien H, Bara T, Clader JW, Greenlee WJ, Cox K, Strizki JM, Baroudy BM (2002) J Med Chem 45:3143
- Nantermet PG, Burgez CS, Robinson K, Pellicore JM, Newton CL, Deng JZ, Selnick HG, Lewis SD, Lucas BJ, Krueger JA, Miller-Stein C, White RB, Wong B, McMasters DR, Wallace AA, Lynch Jr JJ, Yan Y, Chen Z, Kuo L, Gardell SJ, Shafer JA, Vacca JP, Lyle TA (2005) Bioorg Med Chem Lett 15:2771
- 19. Mfuh AM, Larionov OV (2015) Curr Med Chem 22:2819
- Balzarini J, Stevens M, De Clercq E, Schols D, Pannecouque C (2005) J Antimicrob Chemother 55:135
- 21. Brycki B, Szafran M (1984) J Chem Soc Perkin 2:223
- 22. Chmurzyński L (1992) J Solution Chem 21:171
- 23. Chmurzyński L, Liwo A, Barcyński P (1996) Anal Chim Acta 335:147
- 24. Chmurzyński L, Wawryniak G, Warnke Z (1997) J Heterocycl Chem 34:215
- 25. Ducháčková L, Kadlčíková A, Kotora M, Roithová J (2010) J Am Chem Soc 132:12660
- 26. Abraham MH, Honcharova L, Rocco SA, Acree Jr WE, De Fina KM (2011) New J Chem 35:930
- 27. Bergbreiter DE, Ortiz-Acosta D (2008) Tetrahedron Lett 49:5608
- 28. Hagiwara H, Inoguchi H, Fukushima M, Hoshi T, Suzuki T (2005) Synlett:2388
- 29. Denmark SE, Fan Y (2005) J Org Chem 70:9667
- 30. Murray JI, Woscholski R, Spivey AC (2014) Chem Commun 50:13608
- 31. Yoshida K, Takao K (2014) Tetrahedron Lett 55:6861
- 32. Yoshida K, Fujino Y, Itatsu Y, Inoue H, Kanoko Y, Takao K (2016) Tetrahedron Lett 57:627
- 33. Ando M, Emoto S (1975) Bull Soc Chim Jpn 48:1655
- 34. Ryzhkov AV, Rodina LL (2006) Russ J Gen Chem 76:126
- 35. Belousova IA, Simanenko YS, Savelova VA (2001) Russ J Org Chem 37:969
- 36. Belousova IA, Savelova VA, Simanenko YS, Panchenko BV (2002) Russ J Org Chem 38:111
- 37. Shiina I, Ushiyama H, Yamada Y, Kawakita Y, Nakata K (2008) Chem Asian J 3:454
- 38. Fujii M, Honda A (1992) J Heterocycl Chem 29:931
- 39. Fujii M, Honda A (1992) Chem Express 7:329
- 40. Nakajima M, Saito M, Shiro M, Hashimoto S (1998) J Am Chem Soc 120:6419
- 41. Shimada T, Kina A, Ikeda S, Hayashi T (2002) Org Lett 4:2799
- 42. Kina A, Shimada T, Hayashi T (2004) Adv Synth Catal 346:1169
- 43. Kwak J, Ohk J, Jung Y, Chang S (2012) J Am Chem Soc 134:17778

Pyridine N-Oxides and Derivatives Thereof in Organocatalysis

- 44. Jiao Z, Feng X, Liu B, Chen F, Zhang G, Jiang Y (2003) Eur J Org Chem: 3818
- 45. Malkov AV, Dufková L, Farrugia L, Kočovský P (2003) Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 42:3674
- 46. Hrdina R, Stará GI, Dufková L, Mitchell S, Císařová I, Kotora M (2006) Tetrahedron 62:96
- Hrdina R, Kadlčíková A, Valterová I, Hodačová J, Kotora M (2006) Tetrahedron Asymmetry 17:3185
- 48. Hrdina R, Valterová I, Hodačová J, Císařová I, Kotora M (2007) Adv Synth Catal 349:822
- Hrdina R, Dračínský M, Valterová I, Hodačová J, Císařová I, Kotora M (2008) Adv Synth Catal 350:1449
- 50. Kadlčíková A, Hrdina R, Valterová I, Kotora M (2009) Adv Synth Catal 351:1279
- 51. Bai B, Shen L, Ren J, Zhu J-H (2012) Adv Synth Catal 354:354
- 52. Deng Y, Pan W, Pei N-Y, Li L-J, Bai B, Zhu J-H (2013) Tetrahedron 69:10431
- 53. Pignataro L, Benaglia M, Cinquini M, Cozzi F, Celentano G (2005) Chirality 17:396
- 54. Nakajima M, Yokota T, Saito M, Hashimoto S (2004) Tetrahedron Lett 45:61
- 55. Gao D-W, Gu Q, You S-L (2016) ACS Catal 4:2741
- 56. Malkov AV, Orsini M, Pernazza D, Muir WK, Langer V, Meghani P, Kočovský P (2002) Org Lett 4:1047
- Malkov AV, Bell M, Orsini M, Pernazza D, Massa A, Herrmann P, Meghani P, Kočovský P (2003) J Org Chem 68:9659
- 58. Malkov AV, Bell M, Vassieu M, Bugatti V, Kočovský P (2003) J Mol Catal A Chem 196:179
- 59. Malkov AV, Bell M, Casteluzzo F, Kočovský P (2005) Org Lett 7:3219
- 60. Chelucci G, Belmonte N, Benaglia M, Pignataro L (2007) Tetrahedron Lett 48:4037
- 61. Denmark SE, Fan Y, Eastgate MD (2005) J Org Chem 70:5235
- 62. Diana MB, Marchetti M, Melloni G (1995) Tetrahedron Asymmetry 6:1175
- 63. Wong W-L, Lee C-S, Leung H-K, Kwong H-L (2004) Org Biomol Chem 2:1967
- 64. Pignataro L, Benaglia M, Annunziata R, Cinquini M, Cozzi F (2006) J Org Chem 71:1458
- 65. Derdau V, Laschat S, Hupe E, König WA, Dix I, Jones PG (1999) Eur J Inorg Chem:1001
- 66. Denmark SE, Fan Y (2002) J Am Chem Soc 124:4233
- 67. Bolm C, Ewald M, Zehnder M, Neuburger MA (1992) Chem Ber 125:453
- 68. Bolm C, Ewald M, Felder M, Schlingloff G (1992) Chem Ber 125:1169
- Boyd RD, Sharma DN, Sbircea L, Murphy D, Malone FJ, James LS, Allen CRC, Hamilton TGJ (2010) Org Biomol Chem 8:1081
- 70. Gnanamani E, Someshwar N, Ramanathan RC (2012) Adv Synth Catal 354:2101
- 71. Gnanamani E, Someshwar N, Sanjeevi J, Ramanathan RC (2014) Adv Synth Catal 356:2219
- 72. Neniškis A, Stončius S (2015) Eur J Org Chem:6359
- 73. Gaecía-Flores F, Flores-Michel LS, Juaristi E (2006) Tetrahedron Lett 47:8235
- 74. Ikai T, Moro M, Maeda K, Kanoh S (2001) React Funct Polym 71:1055
- 75. Tao B, Lo MM-C, Fu GC (2001) J Am Chem Soc 123:353
- 76. Chai Q, Song C, Sun Z, Ma Y, Ma C, Dai Y, Andrus BM (2006) Tetrahedron Lett 47:8611
- 77. Fulton JR, Glover JE, Kamara L, Rowlands GJ (2011) Chem Commun 47:433
- 78. Takenaka N, Sarangthem RS, Captain B (2008) Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 47:9708
- 79. Chen J, Takenaka N (2009) Chem A Eur J 15:7268
- 80. Chen J, Captain B, Takenaka N (2011) Org Lett 13:2011
- 81. O'Hora SP, Incerti-Pradillos CA, Kabeshov AM, Shipilovskikh AS, Rubtsov EA, Elsegood RJM, Malkov VA (2015) Chem A Eur J 21:4551
- 82. Denmark SE, Fan Y (2006) Tetrahedron Asymmetry 17:687
- Malkov AV, Ramírez-López P, Biedermannová L, Rulíšek L, Dufková L, Kotora M, Zhu F, Kočovský P (2008) J Am Chem Soc 130:5341
- 84. Cadart T, Koukal P, Kotora M (2014) Eur J Org Chem:7556
- 85. Hessler F, Betík R, Kadlčíková A, Belle R, Kotora M (2014) Eur J Org Chem: 7245
- 86. Shimada T, Kina A, Hayashi T (2003) J Org Chem 68:6329
- Malkov VA, Barlóg M, Miller-Potucká L, Kabeshov MA, Farrugia LJ, Kočovský P (2012) Chem A Eur J 18:6873

- Malkov AV, Ramírez-Lopéz P, Biedermannová L, Rulíšek L, Dufková L, Kotora M, Zhu F, Kočovský P (2008) J Am Chem Soc 130:5431
- 89. Bai B, Zhu H-J, Pan W (2012) Tetrahedron 68:6829
- 90. Malkov AV, Kabeshov AM, Barlog M, Kočovský P (2009) Chem A Eur J 15:1570
- Malkov AV, Stončius S, Bell M, Castelluzo F, Ramírez-Lopéz P, Biedermannová L, Langer V, Rulíšek L, Kočovský P (2013) Chem A Eur J 19:9167
- 92. Chelucci G, Baldino S, Pinna GA, Benaglia M, Buffa L, Guizzetti S (2008) Tetrahedron 64:7574
- Incerti-Pradillos CA, Kabeshov AM, O'Hora SP, Shipilovskikh AS, Rubtsov EA, Drobkova VA, Baladina SY, Malkov AV (2016) Chem A Eur J 21:14390
- 94. Kadlčíková A, Vlašaná K, Ducháčková L, Roithová J, Kotora M (2010) Chem A Eur J 16:9442
- 95. Vlašaná K, Hrdina R, Valterová I, Kotora M (2010) Eur J Org Chem:7040
- 96. Malkov AV, Barzog M, Jewkes Y, Mikušek J, Kočovský P (2011) J Org Chem 76:4800
- 97. Koukal P, Ulč J, Nečas D, Kotora M (2016) Eur J Org Chem:2110
- 98. Matoušová E, Koukal P, Formánek B, Kotora M (2016) Org Lett 18:5656
- 99. Koukal P, Kotora M (2015) Chem A Eur J 21:7408
- 100. Vlašaná K, Betík R, Valterová I, Nečas D, Kotora M (2016) Curr Organocatal 3:301
- 101. Hrdina R, Boyd T, Valterová I, Hodačová J, Kotora M (2008) Synlett:3141
- 102. Kolská K, Ghavre M, Pour M, Hybelbauerová S, Kotora M (2016) Asian J Org Chem 5:646
- 103. Nakajima M, Saito M, Hashimoto S (2002) Tetrahedron Asymmetry 13:2449
- 104. Peng Y, Takenaka N (2012) Chem Rec 13:28
- 105. Lu T, Zhu R, An Y, Wheeler SE (2012) J Am Chem Soc 134:3095
- 106. Sugiura M, Sato N, Sonoda Y, Kotani S, Nakajima M (2010) Chem Asian J 5:478
- 107. Kadlčíková A, Vlašaná K, Kotora M (2011) Collect Czech Chem Commun 76:415
- 108. Chen F-X, Qin B, Feng X, Zhang G, Jiang Y (2004) Tetrahedron 60:10449
- 109. Jiao Z, Feng X, Liu B, Chen F, Zhang G, Jiang Y (2003) Eur J Org Chem:3818
- 110. Su Z, Hu C, Feng X (2006) Tetrahedron 62:3818
- 111. Sugiura M, Kumahara M, Nakajima M (2009) Chem Commun:3585
- 112. Diana MB, Marchetti M, Melloni G (1995) Tetrahedron Asymmetry 6:1175
- 113. Matoušová E, Koukal P, Formánek B, Kotora M (2016) Org Lett 18:5656
- 114. Hessler F, Korotvička A, Nečas D, Valterová I, Kotora M (2014) Eur J Org Chem: 2543
- 115. Motloch P, Valterová I, Kotora M (2014) Adv Synth Catal 356:199